IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 95,348 (No. 97-2316)

ELENA LAURA PESSINO GOMEZ DEL CAMPO BACARDI

Petitioner,

VS.

ELENA GOMEZ DEL CAMPO BACARDI DE LINDZON, et al.,

Respondents.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

HECTOR FORMOSO-MURIAS, ESQUIRE
Florida Bar No. 829196
F O R M O S O - M U R I A S
Professional Association
One Unity Square
401 S.W. 27th Avenue
Miami, Florida 33135

Telephone: (305) 372-0700 Facsimile: (305) 372-3357

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Petitioner Elena Laura Pessino Gomez del Campo Bacardi

II. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION W				
		TRIAL COURT DEVIATED FROM KINNEY'S		
	_	CEDURAL FRAMEWORK AND STANDARD BY LING TO ENGAGE IN THE SUBSTANTIVE		
		ING TO ENGAGE IN THE SUBSTANTIVE IR-STEP ANALYSIS MANDATED IN KINNEY AND		
		UIRED BY FLA. R. CIV. P. 1.061	39	
	٨	THE COURTS BELOW FAILED TO APPLY		
	A.	KINNEY'S STRONG PRESUMPTION IN FAVOR		
		OF PETITIONER'S CHOICE OF FORUM	12	
		OF PETITIONER'S CHOICE OF FORUM	43	
	B.	THE PRIVATE INTERESTS WEIGH IN FAVOR		
		OF FLORIDA	44	
	C.	THE PUBLIC INTERESTS WEIGH IN FAVOR		
		OF FLORIDA	46	
III.	THE	TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY		
	FAII	LING TO ALLOW PLAINTIFF TO CONDUCT ANY		
	DISC	COVERY IN THE CASE, INCLUDING DISCOVERY		
	REL	RELATED TO JURISDICTIONAL ISSUES RAISED BY		
	RES	PONDENTS' MOTIONS TO DISMISS, BEFORE THE		
	HEA	RING AND DISMISSAL PURSUANT TO KINNEY		
	AND	FLORIDA'S FORUM NON CONVENIENS DOCTRINE	47	
CONCL	USION		50	
CEDTIE		DE CEDMICE	50	
CEKTIF	CAIEU	OF SERVICE	50	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES

Allstate Life Insurance Co. v. Linter Group Ltd., 782 F.Supp. 215
(S.D.N.Y. 1992)
Baris v. Sulpico Lines, 932 F.2d 1540 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 963 (1991)
Beltz Travel Service, Inc. v. Int'l Air Transport Ass'n, 620 F.2d 1360 (9 th Cir. 1980)
Blanco v. Banco Industrial de Venezuela, S.A., 997 F.2d 974 (2d Cir. 1993)
<u>Blanco v. Carigulf Lines</u> , 632 F.3d 656 (5th Cir. 1980)
<u>C. A. La Seguridad v. Transytur Lines</u> , 707 F.2d 1304 (11th Cir. 1983)
Cambridge Filter Corp. v. International Filter Co., 548 F.Supp. 1308 (D. Nev. 1982)
Ceramic Corporation of America v. Inka Maritime Corporation, Inc., 1 F.3d 947 (9th Cir. 1993)
Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 78 S.Ct. 99, 2 L.Ed.2d 80 (1957)
Founding Church of Scientology v. Verlag, 536 F.2d 429 (D.C. Cir. 1976) 41
<u>Gates Learjet Corp. v. Jensen</u> , 743 F.2d 1325 (9th Cir. 1984), <u>cert. denied</u> , 471 U.S. 1066 (1985)
<u>Gulf Oil Corp. v. Gilbert</u> , 330 U.S. 501, 67 S.Ct. 839 (1947)

<u>Herbstein v. Bruetman</u> , 743 F.Supp. 184 (S.D. N.Y. 1990) 25, 45, 47
<u>Hoffman v. Goberman</u> 420 F.2d 423 (3 rd Cir. 1970)
In re Air Crash Disaster Near New Orleans, La., 821 F.2d 1147 (5th Cir. 1987), vacated on other grds. sub nom., 490 U.S. 1032 (mem.), op. reinstated, 883 F.2d 17 (5th Cir. 1989)
<u>Jackson v. Okaloosa County, Fla.</u> , 21 F.3d 1531 (11 th Cir. 1994)
<u>Kelly v. Kelly</u> , 911 F.Supp. 518 (M.D. Fla. 1995)
<u>Koster v. American Lumbermens Mutual Casualty</u> , 330 U.S. 518, 67 S. Ct. 828, 91 L.Ed. 1067 (1947)
<u>Lacey v. Cessna Aircraft Co.</u> , 862 F.2d 38 (3 rd Cir. 1988)
<u>Lehman v. Humphrey Cayman Ltd.</u> , 713 F.2d 339 (8th Cir. 1983), <u>cert. denied</u> , 464 U.S. 1042 (1984)
<u>Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co.</u> , 455 U.S. 422 (1982)
Lony v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., 886 F.2d 628 (3d Cir. 1989) 6, 44
Lugones v. Sandals Resorts, Inc., 875 F.Supp. 821 (S.D. Fla. 1995)
<u>Madanes v. Madanes</u> , 981 F.Supp. 241 (S.D.N.Y. 1997)
<u>Madara v. Hall</u> , 916 F.2d 1510 (11th Cir. 1990)
Manu International, S.A. v. Avon Products, Inc., 641 F.2d 62 (2d Cir. 1981)
<u>Mobil Tankers Co. v. Mene Grande Oil Co.</u> , 363 F.2d 611 (3 rd Cir. 1966) <u>cert</u> . <u>denied</u> . 385 U.S. 945, 875 Ct. 318, 17 L.Ed.2d 225 (1966)
Mullane v. Central Hanover Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306 (1950) 3

<u>Oppenheimer Fund, Inc. v. Sanders,</u> 437 U.S. 340, 98 S.Ct. 2380, 57 L.Ed 2d 253 (1978)
P&D International v. Halsey Publishing Co., 672 F. Supp. 1429 (S.D. Fla. 1987)
<u>Pain v. United Technologies Corp.</u> , 637 F.2d 775 (D.C. Cir. 1980), <u>cert</u> . <u>denied</u> , 454 U.S. 1128 (1981)
Phoenix Canada Oil Company Limited v. Texaco, Inc.,78 F.R.D. 445 (Del. 1978)
<u>Piper Aircraft Co. v. Reyno</u> , 454 U.S. 235, 102 S. Ct. 252, 70 L. Ed. 2d 419 (1981)
Polythane System, Inc. v. Marina Ventures International, Ltd., 993 F.2d 1201 rehg denied, 4 F.3d 992 (5th Cir. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 1064 (1994)
Reid-Walen v. Hansen, 933 F.2d 1390 (8th Cir. 1991)
Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 94 S. Ct. 1683, 40 L.Ed.2d 90 (1974) 10
<u>Silk v. Sieling</u> , 7 F.R. D. 576 (E.D. Pa. 1947)
<u>United States v. Astling</u> , 733 F.2d 1446 (11 th Cir. 1984)
<u>United States v. Leavitt</u> , 878 F.2d 1329 (11 th Cir 1989)
<u>United States v. Patten</u> , 226 U.S. 525 (1913)
STATE CASES
<u>Alanco v. Bystrom</u> , 544 So.2d 217 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1989)
Amedex International Corp., et. al. v. Marino, 722 So.2d 836 (3 rd DCA 1999) 47

Anderson v. Brown, 524 So.2d 457 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1988) rev. denied, 531 So.2d 1352 (Fla. 1988)
<u>Babcock v. Whatmore</u> , 707 So.2d 702 (Fla. 1998)
Bacardi v. Lindzon, 728 So.2d 309 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1999) 3, 5, 13, 22, 27, 29
Beaubien v. Cambridge Consolidated Ltd., 652 So.2d 936 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995)
Booker v. Booker, 636 So.2d 796 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994)
Bottom v. Elbaz, 722 So.2d 974 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1999)
Carenza v. Sun International Hotels, Ltd., 699 So.2d 830 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997)
Chiquita International Ltd. v. Fresh Del Monte Produce, 690 So.2d 698 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997)
<u>Ciba-Geigy v. Fish Peddler</u> , 691 So.2d 1111 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) 33, 34, 49
Days Inns Acquisition Corp. v. Hutchinson, 707 So.2d 747 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1997) review denied, 717 So.2d 532 (Fla. 1998)
Gleneagle Ship Management v. Leondakos, 602 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 1992)
Ground Improvement Techniques, Inc. v. Merchants Bonding Co., 707 So.2d 1138 (Fla. 5 th DCA 1998)
<u>Houston v. Caldwell</u> , 359 So.2d 858 (Fla. 1978)
<u>Hubbard v. Cazares</u> , 413 So.2d 1192 (Fla. 2 nd DCA 1981)
Kelly v. Sun & Sea Estates, Ltd., Inc., 681 So.2d 922 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1996) 41

Kinney System, Inc. v. The Continental Insurance Co., 674 So.2d 86
(Fla. 1996) passim
Lewis v. Barnett Bank of South Florida, N.A., 604 So.2d 937 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992)
McBee v. Sandals Resorts International, 659 So.2d 471 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1995) 10
Odom v. Odom, 568 So.2d 988 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1990)
PAFCO General Insurance Co. v. WAH - WAI Furniture Co., 701 So.2d 902 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997)
<u>Pearl Cruises v. Bestor</u> , 678 So.2d 372 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1996)
Rikamor, Ltd. v. Oded, 690 So.2d 697 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997)
Roberts v. Keystone Trucking Co., 259 So.2d 171 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1972)
<u>Sanwa Bank, Ltd. v. Kato</u> , 1999 WL 355093, *3 (Fla. 5 th DCA 1999)
<u>Smith Barney, Inc. v. Potter</u> , 725 So.2d 1223 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1999) 40
Travelers Express, Inc. v. Acosta, 397 So.2d 733 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1981)
Venetian Salami v. Parthenais, 554 So.2d 499 (Fla. 1989)
Wilcox v. Stout, 637 So.2d 335 (Fla. 2 nd DCA 1994)
<u>Woods v. Nova Companies Belize Ltd.</u> , 1999 WL 357485, *3 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1999)
<u>W.R. Grace & Company v. Matschke</u> , 1999 WL 313366 *1 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1999)

STATUTES

Fla. Stat. § 737.207	38
RULES	
Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.061	passim
Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.250(a)	34
Fla. R. App. P. 9.220	1
OTHER AUTHORITIES	
Art. I, §21, Fla. Const.	37
U.S. Const., amend. XIV, §1	37
Paget-Brown v. Scenic Limited, 1988-1989 CILR (See copy of case at R. 1195-1199)	28

<u>CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS, ETC.</u>

Counsel for Plaintiff/Petitioner, Elena Laura Pessino Gomez del Campo Bacardi certifies that the following persons and entities have or may have an interest in the outcome of this case:

- 1. Elena Laura Pessino Gomez del Campo Bacardi (Plaintiff/Petitioner)
- 2. Bryan Cave, LLP (counsel for Defendant/Respondent Joseph A. Field)
- 3. John Michael Clear, Esq. (counsel for Defendant/Respondent Joseph A. Field)
- 4. Richard H. Critchlow, Esq. (counsel for Defendant/Respondent Joseph A. Field)
- Guillermo J. Fernandez-Quincoces, Esq.
 (counsel for Defendant/Respondent Mariana Elena Pessino de Quirch)
- 6. Joseph A. Field (Defendant/Respondent)
- 7. Hector Formoso-Murias, Esq. (counsel for Plaintiff/Petitioner Elena Laura Pessino Gomez del Campo Bacardi)
- 8. Formoso-Murias, P.A. (counsel for Plaintiff/Petitioner Elena Laura Pessino Gomez del Campo Bacardi)
- 9. Elizabeth J. du Fresne, Esq.
 (counsel for Defendant Elena Gomez del Campo Bacardi de Lindzon and Respondent Jerry M. Lindzon)

10. Kelley B. Gelb, Esq.

(counsel for amicus curiae The Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers supporting the position of Petitioner)

- 11. William R. Golden, Jr., Esq. (counsel for Defendant/Respondent Alfred P. O'Hara)
- Daniel E. Gonzalez, Esq.
 (counsel for Defendant Elena Gomez del Campo Bacardi de Lindzon and Respondent Jerry M. Lindzon)
- 13. Gunster, Yoakley, Valdes-Fauli & Stewart (counsel for Defendant/Respondent Mariana Elena Pessino de Quirch)
- 14. Kelley Drye & Warren, LLP (counsel for Defendant/Respondent Alfred P. O'Hara)
- 15. Kenny Nachwalter Seymour Arnold Critchlow & Spector, P.A. (counsel for Defendant/Respondent Joseph A. Field)
- 16. Krupnick, Campbell, Malone, Roselli, Buser, Slama and Hancock, P.A. (counsel for amicus curiae The Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers supporting the position of Petitioner)
- 17. Elena Gomez del Campo Bacardi de Lindzon (Defendant in Default)
- 18. Jerry M. Lindzon (Defendant/Respondent)
- Clinton Losego, Esq.
 (counsel for Defendant/Respondent Mariana Elena Pessino de Quirch)
- 20. Stuart McGregor, Esq.

 (counsel for Defendant/Respondent Mariana Elena Pessino Gomez del Campo Bacardi de Quirch)

- 21. Alfred P. O'Hara (Defendant/Respondent)
- 22 Mariana Elena Pessino Gomez del Campo Bacardi de Quirch (Defendant/Respondent)
- 23. Lauren C. Ravkind, Esq. (counsel for Defendant/Respondent Joseph A. Field)
- 24. Steel Hector & Davis, LLP (counsel for Defendant Elena Gomez del Campo Bacardi de Lindzon and Respondent Jerry M. Lindzon)
- 25. The Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers (amicus curiae supporting the position of Petitioner)
- 26. The District Court of Appeal, Third District of Florida
- 27. Hon. David L. Tobin (Circuit Court Judge)
- 28. Edwin G. Torres, Esq.

 (counsel for Defendant Elena Gomez del Campo Bacardi de Lindzon and Respondent Jerry M. Lindzon)

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(as framed by the certified question of great public importance)

DOES THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IF IT DISMISSES AN ACTION ON FORUM NON CONVENIENS GROUNDS UNDER <u>KINNEY</u> SYSTEM, INC. v. CONTINENTAL INS. CO., 674 So.2d 86 (Fla. 1996), WHEN DISMISSAL REQUIRES THE PLAINTIFF TO REFILE THE CLAIMS IN MORE THAN ONE ALTERNATIVE JURISDICTION?

Threshold issues exist which are presumed satisfied and are not stated in the certified question. Therefore, Petitioner restates the certified question as follows:

- I. DOES THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IF IT DISMISSES AN ACTION ON FORUM NON CONVENIENS GROUNDS UNDER <u>KINNEY SYSTEM</u>, INC. v. CONTINENTAL INS. CO., 674 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 1996), WHEN THE COURT *FAILS* TO ESTABLISH THAT *AN ALTERNATIVE FORUM EXISTS* WHICH POSSESSES *JURISDICTION OVER THE WHOLE CASE* AND DISMISSAL REQUIRES THE PLAINTIFF TO REFILE THE CLAIMS IN MORE THAN ONE ALTERNATIVE JURISDICTION?
- II. DOES THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN THE COURT DEVIATES FROM THE <u>KINNEY</u> PROCEDURAL FRAMEWORK AND STANDARD BY FAILING TO ENGAGE IN THE SUBSTANTIVE FOUR-STEP ANALYSIS MANDATED IN <u>KINNEY</u> AND REQUIRED BY FLA. R. CIV. P. 1.061?
- III. DOES THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY FAILING TO ALLOW PLAINTIFF TO CONDUCT ANY DISCOVERY IN THE CASE, INCLUDING DISCOVERY RELATED TO JURISDICTIONAL ISSUES RAISED IN RESPONDENTS' MOTIONS TO DISMISS BEFORE A HEARING AND DISMISSAL PURSUANT TO KINNEY AND FLORIDA'S FORUM NON CONVENIENS DOCTRINE?

INTRODUCTION

In 1996, Petitioner ELENA LAURA PESSINO GOMEZ DEL CAMPO BACARDI ("ELENA BACARDI" or "Petitioner" or "Plaintiff") sued Defendant ELENA GOMEZ DEL CAMPO BACARDI DE LINDZON ("ELENA LINDZON") and Respondents JERRY M. LINDZON ("JERRY LINDZON"), JOSEPH A. FIELD ("FIELD"), ALFRED P. O'HARA ("O'HARA") and MARIANA PESSINO GOMEZ DEL CAMPO BACARDI ("MARIANA BACARDI") (referred to herein jointly as "Respondents" or "Defendants"). (A. 172) The Petitioner filed a twenty-three count complaint for damages against the five Defendants asserting civil conspiracy, fraud, five counts of breach of fiduciary duty, conversion, negligent misrepresentation, unjust enrichment, promissory estoppel, several counts of professional malpractice, tortious interference with a gift or devise, breach of trust, breach of duty as co-trustee, breach of duty to inform and account to beneficiaries, imposition of a constructive trust, imposition of a resulting trust, fraud in the inducement, intentional infliction of emotional distress and intentional interference with an expectancy; all arising from the Defendants' tortious conduct in Florida. (A. 85-171, 174) Petitioner's action is

An Appendix, pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.220, accompanies this Initial Brief of Petitioner. All citations and references to the appendix will be indicated as "(A. ___)". The Index to the Appendix provides a cross-reference indicating where each Appendix document appears in the record (denoted by "R. ___").

essentially a tort and conspiracy case. The gravamen of the case is a conspiracy orchestrated from Florida with a single monolithic goal: to use whatever resources were at the disposal of the various co-conspirators including the trust funds invaded, managed and controlled by the conspirators, to enrich Defendants ELENA LINDZON and JERRY LINDZON and those conspiring with them at the expense of ELENA BACARDI and her descendants, and to maximize their enrichment by taking whatever steps were necessary to maintain the continued viability of their conspiracy, including massive fraud. ELENA BACARDI's complaint in the case asserts claims against all the Defendants individually and together as co-conspirators and seeks to hold them liable for all tortious acts committed by each of them in Florida.

The trial court granted Defendants' motion to dismiss the complaint for *forum* non conveniens pursuant to Kinney System, Inc. v. Continental Ins. Co., 674 So.2d 86 (Fla. 1996) and Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.061, including Defendant, ELENA LINDZON's motion to dismiss even though she was and continues to be in default. (A. 6-8) A panel of the Third District Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's order as it pertains to ELENA LINDZON as well as the legal malpractice claim against JERRY LINDZON, a Florida resident and member of the Florida Bar, and affirmed the order as it pertains to the claims involving the trusts against JERRY LINDZON, MARIANA BACARDI, FIELD and O'HARA by suggesting that the trial court

"implicitly severed" the Petitioner's claims before dismissing the case on *forum non conveniens* grounds in favor of *various* alternative foreign jurisdictions. The order was also affirmed as to the legal malpractice claim against FIELD. Recognizing the inherent conflict with this Court's decision in <u>Kinney</u> and Florida's *forum non conveniens* doctrine as adopted in Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.061, the Third District panel certified to this Court a question of great public importance:

DOES THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IF IT DISMISSES AN ACTION ON FORUM NON CONVENIENS GROUNDS UNDER <u>KINNEY SYSTEM</u>, <u>INC. v. CONTINENTAL INS. CO.</u>, 674 So.2d 86 (Fla. 1996), WHEN DISMISSAL REQUIRES THE PLAINTIFF TO REFILE THE CLAIMS IN MORE THAN ONE ALTERNATIVE JURISDICTION?

Bacardi v. Lindzon, 728 So.2d 309, 313 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1999). (A. 1-5) The panel sensibly recognized that its decision is inconsistent with the federal doctrine of *forum non conveniens* and this Court's decision in <u>Kinney</u>, which provides "[1]As a prerequisite, the court must establish whether *an adequate alternative forum* exists which possesses jurisdiction *over the whole case* ... [4]if he decides that the balance favors such *a* ... *forum*, the trial judge must finally ensure that the plaintiff can reinstate their suit in *the alternative forum without undue inconvenience or prejudice*". Kinney, 674 So.2d at 90 (citations omitted, brackets in original; emphasis added).

Contrary to the *forum non conveniens* doctrine, the Third District panel answers the certified question by affirming the trial court's dismissal of *one* plaintiff's claims

in favor of *multiple* alternative foreign jurisdictions. Its opinion cites to no federal or Florida court precedent to support such a position.

Although the Third District's certified question suggests this is a question of first impression, this is so only because the court's decision deviates fundamentally from the body of law comprising the common law and federal doctrine of *forum non* conveniens and this Court's decision in Kinney. The question presented to this Court for review presumes that the trial court and appellate court have followed Kinney and Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.061. However, the certified question of great public importance can only be answered in the affirmative if this Court is to remain consistent with Kinney, Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.061 and the federal forum non-conveniens doctrine. The trial court and Third District abandon the bright-line test and vigorous standard set forth by the <u>Kinney</u> court and Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.061, and therefore, undermine Florida's *forum non*conveniens doctrine adopted in Kinney. A careful examination of the opinion and the transcript of the trial court hearing and dismissal order reveals this material divergence from <u>Kinney</u>. The <u>Kinney</u> mandate contemplates structured discretion by Florida's trial courts, within the boundaries of a four-step procedural framework and analysis guiding each court's decision-making process. The impact of the Third District holding reaches well beyond the certified question; it is at odds with the "most convenient forum" premise underlying this Court's decision in Kinney and the

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