IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 95,348 (No. 97-02316)

ELENA LAURA PESSINO GOMEZ DEL CAMPO,

Petitioner,

V.

ELENA GOMEZ DEL CAMPO DE LINDZON, JERRY M. LINDZON, MARIANA PESSINO GOMEZ DEL CAMPO JOSEPH A. FIELD, and ALFRED P. O'HARA, individually,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR CERTIORARI BASED ON CERTIFIED QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENTS' JOINT ANSWER BRIEF

Stuart J. McGregor Clinton R. Losego GUNSTER, YOAKLEY, VALDES-FAULI & STEWART Attorneys for Mariana Pessino Gomez Del Campo

William R. Golden, Jr. KELLEY DRYE & WARREN, L.L.P. Attorneys for Alfred P. O'Hara

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

In response, Elena Laura argues that, notwithstanding the fact a Cayman and Liechtenstein trust are at the center of her complaint, Florida law would govern. (Pet. Brief at 10-13). This imaginative theory is based on the idea that because there were family meetings in Florida, correspondence was sent to and from Florida, and the residence of some of the Respondents is in Florida, the wrongful conduct took place in Florida and Florida tort law would govern. Assuming solely for the sake of argument that these facts were true, the trial court obviously found that it would still have to rely on Cayman and Liechtenstein law as a predicate for any Florida tort. That being the case, the more appropriate fora to make those predicate determinations should be in the Cayman Islands and Liechtenstein.

But the fact remains that Elena Laura's "Florida law" theory is totally meritless. As argued earlier, it is well-established in Florida that for venue purposes generally a tortious act accrues where the tort had its impact and caused damage to a plaintiff. E.g., Ryder, 699 So. 2d at 715-16 (this court reversing trial court's denial of *forum non conveniens* motion where non-Florida plaintiff suffered alleged tortious injury outside Florida); Weiner, 557 So. 2d at 912. Only in unusual cases will a court find that a tort cause of action arose in a forum other than where the injury took place. Ryder, 699 So. 2d at 716. Thus, the Plaintiff being a Spanish citizen, and the Cotorro trust being a Cayman trust, any alleged tortious conduct, even if it touched on Florida shores, constitutes only an alleged tort arising in either Spain or the Cayman Islands. The same is true for the Corniche trust issues; that is, the alleged conduct, inducing the filing of a frivolous claim, materialized only when Elena Laura participated in litigation

in Liechtenstein. Consequently, Liechtenstein law would govern whether the litigation was in fact frivolous. Again, the Third District confirmed the trial court's findings:

[I]t appears that Florida law will not apply as the trust documents dictate that either Cayman Islands or Liechtenstein law governs the trusts respectively. Accordingly, the trial court properly concluded that "retention of jurisdiction would be unduly burdensome to the community. . . . [and] that foreign law will predominate if jurisdiction is retained."

Bacardi, 728 So. 2d at 314 (quoting <u>Kinney</u>, 674 So. 2d at 92; <u>Ciba-Geigy</u>, <u>Ltd.</u>, 691 So. 2d at 1124-25)).

In sum, the trial court's balancing of the private and public interest issues in this case should be affirmed. Two different trial judges in separate jurisdictions, in addition to the Third District have all unequivocally concluded that this case has no business being filed in Florida, lending weight to the court's contention that this is exactly the type of case that <u>Kinney</u> intended to prevent. (R.1511-13 (A6-8)). This is why the Cayman court *enjoined* Elena Laura from prosecuting the case any further, calling this action "vexatious and oppressive," in a manner that directly appealed to the Florida court to properly respect the Cayman court's obvious jurisdiction. (R.305-419 Exh.C (JA Tab 1 at 49)). Elena Laura is now trying to second-guess these multiple judicial findings. This Court, like the trial court and Third District, should decline the invitation.

3. There is No Prejudice to Elena Laura in Having to Pursue Her Claims in Appropriate Alternative Fora

The fourth and final step in the <u>Kinney</u> analysis requires the trial court, before dismissing a case under this doctrine, to ensure that the plaintiffs can reinstate their action in the alternative forum. Rule 1.061(a)(4). Here, the trial court found that the Cayman Islands or Liechtenstein were available and adequate alternative for a in which to prosecute Elena Laura's claims. (R.1511-13(A6-8)). The court further found that

in balancing the public and private interests involved, the interests of convenience and justice warranted dismissal of the case. (<u>Id.</u>) Finally, the court provided that the respondents would accept service of process before the courts of the Cayman Islands or Liechtenstein, where these claims belonged. (<u>Id.</u>) The trial court thus satisfied the fourth and final prong of the <u>Kinney</u> test.

Elena Laura is simply not unduly inconvenienced by having to raise or continue to litigate her claims in the proper fora. The trial court found that Elena Laura is a non-Florida plaintiff, suing under non-Florida trusts and governed by non-Florida law. In fact, the only "convenience" Elena Laura seeks is to find a judge who will agree with her meritless arguments after other judges have already rejected them. <u>Kinney</u>, however, prohibits such rank forum-shopping. 674 So. 2d at 92.

To bolster their argument, Elena Laura and her Amicus claim that the Third District's decision to reverse the dismissal order only as to the professional malpractice claim against Jerry Lindzon, a Florida lawyer, enhances the "inconvenience" and "hardship" she would have to suffer if forced to litigate the remaining claims in the better foreign jurisdictions. (Pet. Brief at 35-38; Am. Brief at 4-12). Again, however, the reason that this has become necessary is the fact Elena Laura chose to include totally separate and distinct legal claims in one complaint filed in Dade County, only one of which — the Florida malpractice claim — could possibly be adjudicated here. And the cases they rely upon do not foreclose the possibility of treating discrete defendants differently in such circumstances. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Watson v. Merrell Dow</u>, 769 F.2d at 357 (affirming dismissal of corporate defendant in favor of alternative forum but reversing as to individual defendants unless they stipulated to foreign jurisdiction).

Moreover, Elena Laura will not in fact be inconvenienced by a third forum to litigate her claims at the same time. All the Respondents, including Jerry Lindzon, originally moved to stay or abate the action pending resolution of the foreign claims in

the respective foreign jurisdictions after the complaint was filed. (R.305-419 (JA Tab 1 at 1-33)). That motion, of course, became moot after the trial court dismissed the action on different grounds. Now that one claim may have to remain, however, Jerry Lindzon stipulates that he will seek a stay of that claim pending resolution of the foreign litigation that Elena Laura would first have to pursue under the trial court's order. ¹⁶

The Third District's decision, affirming the trial court's order with some modifications, should be affirmed as all four prongs of the <u>Kinney</u> test have been satisfied in this case.

II.

The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Dismissing The Case Without Permitting Any Merit Discovery

Elena Laura's last tag-along argument claims that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing her any discovery running to the merits of the motion to dismiss under <u>Kinney</u>. Elena Laura's argument is yet another distortion of the record. The stay of discovery entered by the first judge assigned to the case related to the *merit* discovery which Elena Laura served upon all the parties at the outset of the litigation that included a set of 50 requests for production, 119 requests for admission, and 106 interrogatory questions (not including subparts). Faced with such oppressive merit

Indeed, Florida law is well settled that a malpractice claim such as this one should be stayed pending other ongoing proceedings that will determine whether or not any redressable cause of action even exists. See, e.g., Bierman v. Miller, 639 So. 2d 627 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994). Here, the malpractice claim is expressly dependent on findings that Jerry Lindzon, in fact, breached his fiduciary duties relating to the Cotorro trust and fraudulently induced Elena Laura to file the Liechtenstein litigation over the Corniche trust. (A132-33). Only after those findings are made in Elena Laura's favor can there be any cause of action for professional malpractice arising from those events. That can be litigated in Florida only after the Cayman or Liechtenstein proceedings have finally been concluded.

discovery at the start of a case, and because they filed multiple jurisdictional motions to dismiss the case, the Respondents jointly moved to stay this voluminous discovery. (R.204-07; 297-301; 531-35; 557-561). The trial court granted that motion pending disposition of the motions to dismiss. (R.621-22).

Counsel for Elena Laura then claimed that he needed discovery in order to address the jurisdiction issues. When the trial court asked counsel what discovery he needed, counsel could not respond with any definitive explanation of what discovery he needed to defend the jurisdictional motions. After the new trial judge was assigned to the case, and after that judge announced his intention to hear the <u>Kinney</u> motion first, counsel again demanded discovery. Again, however, when asked what jurisdictional discovery he believed he needed, counsel could only respond with the request that he needed to know the status of the other pending actions that the Respondents were relying upon in their motions to dismiss. (R.1233). The trial court agreed to lift the stay to permit discovery running to that request. (R.1234-35). Thereafter, the Respondents provided Elena Laura with informal discovery that responded to counsel's request. That was the end of the discovery issue before the hearing on June 25, 1997.

Elena Laura thus *never served any discovery requests going to the jurisdictional issues in the case.* And, beyond the request for information about the status of other pending actions that were the basis for the Respondents' motions, which prompted the trial court to lift the stay of discovery, *no other discovery was requested*. Elena Laura, therefore, has no credible basis to raise any discovery issue in this appeal.¹⁷

III.

A trial court's management of the discovery issues in a case is entitled to "wide discretion," reversible on appeal only for a gross abuse of discretion. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>American Southern Co. v. Tinter, Inc.</u>, 565 So. 2d 891 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); <u>Lorei v. Smith</u>, 464 So. 2d 1330 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). There is no basis to find in this case that any abuse of discretion took place on a discovery issue that was not the basis for the appellate jurisdiction in this court.

The Third District Also Correctly Affirmed the <u>Dismissal of Malpractice Claims against Joseph Field</u>

Also without merit is Elena Laura's argument that the Third District misapplied the law in affirming the dismissal of the malpractice claim against Field. Specifically, Elena Laura argues that the Third District erred by concluding that Florida has no meaningful relationship to the legal malpractice claim against Field by dismissing the malpractice claim to an unspecified forum while at the same time recognizing that Cayman and Liechtenstein lacked jurisdiction over the malpractice claim. Neither argument is supported by the law or the record.

Elena Laura, a Spanish citizen, asserted a malpractice claim against Field based upon advice he allegedly gave or failed to give. (A129-31). Field resides in London and is not a member of the Florida Bar. (JA Tab 3 at 210). He has never practiced law in Florida and he has never held himself out as practicing under the laws of Florida. (<u>Id.</u>) The linchpin of Elena Laura's argument is that the Court was not at liberty to consider these compelling and undisputed facts that show Florida has no public interest in resolving the malpractice claim against Field because to do so is tantamount to a collateral attack on jurisdiction. Elena Laura has not cited any authority that would support such an argument and the law is to the contrary. Specifically, while a *forum* non conveniens analysis presupposes that the court has jurisdiction and venue, one prong of the forum non conveniens analysis is the public interest prong. The public interest prong focuses on "whether the case has a general nexus with the forum sufficient to justify the forum's commitment of judicial time and resources to it." Kinney, 674 So. 2d at 92 (quoting Pain, 637 F.2d at 791). Thus, an analysis of the public interest prong necessarily includes consideration of many of the same facts that are considered in determining jurisdiction and/or venue. However, by merely considering these facts, the Court is not permitting a collateral attack on jurisdiction or venue. Instead, it is applying the analysis dictated by <u>Kinney</u> and Rule 1.061 to the facts.

Moreover, Elena Laura's assertion that the Third District violated <u>Kinney</u> and Rule 1.061 by dismissing the malpractice claim against Field to an unspecified forum while recognizing that both Cayman and Liechtenstein lack jurisdiction over her claim for legal malpractice is pure fiction that is not supported by the Third District's opinion or the record that it relied upon. That record evidence included Elena Laura's own expert who recognized the existence of a malpractice claim in the Caymans by his exclusion of the malpractice claim from the lists of claims which in his opinion Cayman law would not recognize. (R.181-200 (A9-14)).¹⁸

Additionally, to the extent that the malpractice claim against Field relates to his advising Elena Laura to pursue what she claims was frivolous litigation in Liechtenstein, the record shows that Liechtenstein would likely have jurisdiction to resolve that issue and would afford Elena Laura relief if she proved her case. (R.849-853). Thus, contrary to Elena Laura's assertion, the Third District did not recognize that Cayman and Liechtenstein lacked jurisdiction over the malpractice claim and the Court did not dismiss the claim to an unspecified forum.

CONCLUSION

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